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5 September 2023 

IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE ARMED FORCES 

UNITED STATES, ) BRIEF ON BEHALF OF 
Appellee ) THE UNITED STATES 

) 
v. ) Crim. App. No. 40189 

) 
Airman First Class (E-3) ) USC Dkt. No. 23-0162/AF 
KRISTOPHER D. COLE ) 
United States Air Force ) 

Appellant. ) 

TO THE HONORABLE, THE JUDGES OF THE UNITED STATES 
COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ARMED FORCES 

ISSUE PRESENTED 

WHETHER APPELLANT IS ENTITLED TO 
RELIEF BECAUSE THE MILITARY JUDGE 
MISAPPREHENDED THE OFFENSE IN 
SPECIFICATION 2 OF CHARGE II FOR WHICH 
HE SENTENCED APPELLANT. 

STATEMENT OF STATUTORY JURISDICTION 

The Air Force Court of Criminal Appeals (AFCCA) reviewed this case 

under Article 66(d), UCMJ.  This Court has jurisdiction over this matter under 

Article 67(a)(3), UCMJ. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Appellant’s statement of the case is correct.  Appellant pleaded guilty 

to one charge and one specification of aggravated assault via strangulation on 

divers occasions (Charge II, Specification 1), one specification of simple assault 
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with an unloaded firearm (Charge II, Specification 2), and one specification of 

assault consummated by a battery (Charge II, Specification 7), all in violation of 

Article 128, UCMJ.  (JA at 31).  A military judge sitting alone as a general court-

martial found Appellant’s plea provident and sentenced him.  (JA at 95, 109).   

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

Appellant met A1C RL at her first duty assignment, Davis-Monthan Air 

Force Base, Arizona, sometime in July 2019.  (JA at 115).  The two enjoyed 

similar interests and spent time at Appellant’s off-base home.  (Id.).  “From 

approximately August 2019 through January 2021, A1C [RL] would spend time at 

[Appellant]’s apartment on the weekends.”  (JA at 116).  Not long after the two 

started their unofficial romantic relationship, Appellant began physically assaulting 

A1C RL.  (JA at 116).  

While A1C RL visited Appellant’s home in September 2019, Appellant 

pointed an unloaded firearm at A1C RL’s head.  (JA at 119).  The incident began 

when Appellant became angry at A1C RL for not reassembling one of his rifles in 

a sufficiently precise manner.  (Id.).  Appellant “got angry at A1C [RL] and yelled 

at her, saying that she could not go to bed until she fixed the gun and put it back 

together completely.”  (Id.).  Appellant then walked over to A1C RL, “held up his 

9mm Smith and Wesson pistol … to her temple, yelling at her.”  (Id.).  He yelled, 
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“don’t disrespect me in my own house, you are going to do this.  My house, my 

rules, you are going to finish it, that’s what I told you to do.”  (Id.).  

A1C RL was terrified – “[s]he did not know that [Appellant] had pulled the 

firing pin out of the firearm, and she truly thought he might pull the trigger and kill 

her.”  (JA at 119).  Later Appellant boasted to his roommate that “he pulled the 

trigger when he held the pistol to A1C [RL’s] temple” but that it was “fine because 

[he] took the firing pin out and the gun was not loaded.”  (Id.).  When A1C RL’s 

coworker confronted Appellant about the incident, Appellant laughed, and he 

confirmed to her coworker that he had held a pistol up to A1C RL’s temple.  (JA at 

120). 

Appellant submitted a plea agreement and agreed to plead guilty to 

Specifications 1, 2, and 7 of Charge II, unmodified.  (JA at 110-114).  Per 

Appellant’s plea agreement, he elected to be tried by a military judge alone.  (JA at 

111).  Appellant agreed that the judge could only impose a 6-month maximum 

confinement term and a 60-day minimum for Specification 1, 2, and 7 of Charge II, 

respectively, and that any adjudged confinement was “[t]o be served 

consecutively.”  (Id.). 

Stipulation of Fact 

Trial counsel provided the military judge with a copy of the stipulation of 

fact.  (JA at 48).  The military judge explained to Appellant that the stipulation of 



 

 4 

fact would be used in two ways.  “First, I will use it to determine if you are guilty 

of the offenses to which you’ve plead guilty.  And second, I will use it to 

determine an appropriate sentence for you.”  (JA at 49).  Appellant, trial defense 

counsel, and trial counsel agreed the military judge could use the stipulation of fact 

for these two purposes.  (JA at 49).  The first paragraph of the stipulation of fact 

also stated it could be used for any purpose in the court-martial.  (JA at 115). 

The military judge conducted a colloquy about the stipulation of fact with 

Appellant, and he read and explained each paragraph of it aloud to Appellant.  (JA 

at 50-67).  As he read the stipulation of fact aloud, the military judge noticed the 

referral date in the document was incorrect, and he asked: 

[Military Judge]:  Can I stop you there, was this referred 
on 14 June 2021 or 14 June 2020?  I don’t have the charge 
sheet in front of me, I don’t think. 
 
[Trial Counsel]:  No, Your Honor, it was not referred on 
14 June 2021.  The stipulation of fact is to read as if it was 
going to trial on 14 June 2021. 
 
[Military Judge]:  Okay.  It doesn’t say that though, right?  
I am not crazy.  I think it looks to me like it was referred 
on 5 March. 
 

(JA at 50).  The referral date is found on the charge sheet.  (JA at 32). 

The military judge skipped reading the general nature of the charges.  (JA at 

43-44).  But the stipulation of fact headers provided the general nature of each 

charge to which Appellant was pleading guilty.  (JA at 116, 119, 120).  The header 



 

 5 

immediately preceding the details of the simple assault with an unloaded firearm 

read “Assault with an Unloaded Firearm (Article 128, UCMJ).”  (JA at 119) 

(emphasis added). 

Care Inquiry 

 The military judge conducted a Care1 inquiry with Appellant.  (JA at 68-78).  

The specification at issue here (Charge II, Specification 2) read: 

In that [Appellant], United States Air Force, 355th Aircraft 
Maintenance Squadron, Davis-Monthan Air Force Base, 
Arizona, did within the state of Arizona, between on or 
about 1 September 2019 and on or about 18 September 
2019, assault Airman First Class [RL] by pointing an 
unloaded firearm at her head. 
 

(JA at 33).  The military judge read the following elements for Specification 2 of 

Charge II to Appellant: 

[Military Judge]:  Thank you.  All right, [Appellant], thank 
you.  Let’s move on to Specification 2 of Charge II.  That 
specification is, again, a violation of Article 128 of the 
Uniform Code of Military Justice.  The elements of that 
offense, which is called assault consummated by battery, 
are, one, that between on or about 1 August 2019 and on 
or about 20 January 2020, within the state of Arizona, you 
did assault [A1C RL] by offering to do bodily harm to her.  
Two, that you did so by pointing at her with a certain 
weapon, to wit, an unloaded firearm.  Three, that you 
intended to do bodily harm and four, that the weapon was 
a dangerous weapon. 
 

(JA at 72).  The military judge provided the following definitions to Appellant: 

 
1 United States v. Care, 18 U.S.C.M.A. 535 (C.M.A. 1969). 
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An assault is an unlawful offer made with force or 
violence to do bodily harm to another, whether or not the 
offer consummated.  An offer to do bodily harm is an 
unlawful demonstration of violence by an intentional act 
or omission which creates in the mind of another, a 
reasonable apprehension of receiving immediate bodily 
harm. 
 
Bodily harm means an offensive touching of another, 
however slight.  It is not necessary that bodily harm 
actually be inflicted, however, you must have intended to 
do the bodily harm.  Intent to do bodily harm may be 
proved by circumstantial evidence.  When bodily harm has 
been inflicted by means of intentionally using force in a 
manner capable of achieving that result.  It may be inferred 
that the bodily harm was intended.  And the offer to do 
bodily harm is unlawful if done without legal justification 
or excuse and without the lawful consent of the victim. 
 
A weapon is a dangerous weapon when used in a manner 
capable of inflicting death or grievous bodily harm.  What 
constitutes a dangerous weapon depends not on the nature 
of the object itself, but on its capability, given the manner 
of its use to inflict grievous bodily harm. 
 
Firearm means any weapon which is designed to or may 
be readily converted to expel any projectile by the action 
of an explosive.  
 

(JA at 72-73).  Trial defense counsel did not object to any of the elements or 

definitions provided by the military judge.  After providing the definitions to 

Appellant, the military judge asked him, “ 

[Military Judge]:  . . . what I wanted to ask you was, the 
unloaded firearm, it was a 9mm Smith and Wesson, I 
believe in the stipulation of fact, it stated, and I wanted to 
ask you if you consider that a dangerous weapon under the 
definitions I have given you? 
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[Appellant]: Yes, Your Honor. 

 
(JA at 75).  Trial defense counsel did not object to any of the military judge’s 

questions of Appellant during the Care inquiry. 

References to Unloaded Firearm 

During the stipulation of fact inquiry, the military judge read four passages 

aloud that stated the firearm was unloaded or inoperable.  He read paragraph 25 

aloud which stated Appellant pointed an “unloaded firearm at A1C RL.”  (JA at 

62).  He read paragraph 29 aloud which stated Appellant pulled the firing pin out 

of the firearm.  (JA at 63).  The military judge then read paragraph 30 aloud which 

explained that the firearm was inoperable and unloaded.  (JA at 64). 

The military judge said the weapon was an “unloaded firearm” when reading 

the elements of Specification 2 of Charge II.  (JA at 72).  In Appellant’s 

description of the offense, he said the gun was unloaded or inoperable three times:  

“While the firearm was unloaded and had the firing pin removed, which means it 

could not have been fired.”  (JA at 74) (emphasis added).  Then the military judge 

referred to “the unloaded firearm” in his follow up questions with Appellant.  (JA 

at 75).   

On nine occasions during the stipulation of fact inquiry and guilty plea 

inquiry, Appellant or military judge stated the firearm was unloaded or inoperable.  
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(JA at 72, 74, 75).  Then during trial counsel’s sentencing argument, she reiterated 

that the firearm was unloaded or inoperable five times.  (JA at 102). 

Maximum Punishment and Adjudged Sentence 

The military judge and counsel discussed the maximum punishment 

calculation in an R.C.M. 802 conference, and the military judge summarized the 

meeting: 

We had another RCM 802 conference this morning and in 
that particular conference, the [G]overnment and the 
defense just wanted to let me know how they calculated 
the maximum punishment that would be authorized based 
upon the offenses that [Appellant] was pleading guilty to.  
And, I appreciate that and I did look through the appendix 
to the Manual for Courts-Martial and I do agree with 
counsel on the maximum punishment that they had already 
agreed to. 

 
(JA at 41).  Neither trial counsel nor trial defense counsel objected to or added to 

the military judge’s summary of the R.C.M. 802 conference.  (JA at 42).  The 

military judge queried counsel about the maximum punishment available: 

[Military Judge]:  Trial counsel what do you calculate the 
maximum punishment authorized by law in this case based 
solely on Airman Cole’s guilty plea? 
 
[Assistant Trial Counsel]:  Six years and six months, Your 
Honor. 
 
[Military Judge]:  Thank you, and defense, do you agree? 
 
[Defense Counsel]:  Yes, Your Honor. 
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[Military Judge]:  All right [sic], so that is the maximum 
confinement that is authorized. 

 
(JA at 78). 

Appellant was sentenced by the military judge to a reduction in grade to E-1, 

three consecutive terms of confinement, and a bad conduct discharge.  (JA at 35-

36).  Specifically, he was sentenced to six months confinement for the aggravated 

assault via strangulation on divers occasions (Charge II, Specification 1), six 

months confinement for the simple assault with an unloaded firearm (Charge II, 

Specification 2), and two months confinement for the assault consummated by a 

battery (Charge II, Specification 7).  (Id.). 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The military judge made three legal errors during the guilty plea inquiry 

with Appellant.  Although the military judge erred, the errors were 

nonconstitutional because they did not violate Appellant’s constitutional right 

against self-incrimination or his right to proper notice of the offenses.   

Appellant’s right against self-incrimination was not violated when the 

military judge added two unnecessary elements to the simple assault with an 

unloaded firearm offense and questioned Appellant about the elements.  Appellant 

did not admit that the firearm he point at A1C RL was a dangerous weapon, just 

that it could have been one under the legal definition provided by the military 

judge.  And Appellant did not admit that he committed bodily harm on A1C RL.  
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Rather, he stated that he only intended to point the firearm at her head – a required 

element of simple assault. 

Just as Appellant right against self-incrimination was not violated, neither 

was Appellant’s right to proper notice.  Appellant was given notice of simple 

assault with an unloaded firearm on the charge sheet, in the stipulation of fact, and 

during the Care inquiry.  And the military judge demonstrated over and over on the 

record that he understood that was the offense for which he was sentencing 

Appellant.   

Even though nonconstitutional errors occurred, the military judge’s errors 

did not contribute to Appellant’s sentence.  The military judge knew the offense 

was simple assault with an unloaded firearm.  He did not elicit that Appellant 

intended to do bodily harm, and based on the facts provided at trial, the military 

judge could not realistically determine that Appellant actually harmed A1C RL.  

Trial counsel did not argue any incorrect elements as aggravating evidence in 

sentencing.  Finally, the military judge was aware of the overall punishment, and 

he had evidence before him supporting a sentence to six months of confinement.  

The military judge’s errors did not contribute to the sentence and were harmless 

beyond a reasonable doubt.  United States v. Wolford, 62 M.J. 418, 420 (C.A.A.F. 

2006). 
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Although the United States does not agree that the errors were of a 

constitutional magnitude, the United States can meet the higher constitutional-error 

burden of showing harmlessness.  Thus, if the errors were not constitutional, then 

Appellant cannot meet his burden of showing prejudice under a plain error 

standard.  Appellant has not shown a reasonable probability that, but for the errors, 

his sentence would have been different.  United States v. Lopez, 76 M.J. 151, 154 

(C.A.A.F. 2017). 

This Court should affirm the decision of the Air Force Court of Criminal 

Appeals. 

ARGUMENT 

APPELLANT SUFFERED NO PREJUDICE, 
BECAUSE THE MILITARY JUDGE 
UNDERSTOOD THE OFFENSE IN 
SPECIFICATION 2 OF CHARGE II, WHEN HE 
SENTENCED APPELLANT. 

 
Standard of Review 

Standard of Review for Nonconstitutional Error 
 

Where an appellant forfeited a nonconstitutional right “by failing to raise it 

at trial, we review for plain error.”  United States v. Gladue, 67 M.J. 311, 313 

(C.A.A.F. 2009).  Appellant must show “(1) error that is (2) clear or obvious and 

(3) results in material prejudice to his substantial rights.”  Lopez, 76 M.J. at 154 

(citing United States v. Knapp, 73 M.J. 33, 36 (C.A.A.F. 2014)).  “[T]he appellant 
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‘must show a reasonable probability that, but for the error, the outcome of the 

proceeding would have been different.”  Lopez, 76 M.J. at 154 (citing Molina-

Martinez v. United States, 136 S. Ct. 1338, 1343, 194 L. Ed. 2d 444 (2016)). 

Standard of Review for Constitutional Error 
 

“[W]here a forfeited constitutional error was clear or obvious, ‘material 

prejudice’ is assessed using the ‘harmless beyond a reasonable doubt’ standard set 

out in Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 

(1967).”  United States v. Tovarchavez, 78 M.J. 458, 460 (C.A.A.F. 2019) (citing 

United States v. Jones, 78 M.J. 37, 45 (C.A.A.F. 2018)).  “The inquiry for 

determining whether constitutional error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt is 

whether, beyond a reasonable doubt, the error did not contribute to the defendant's 

conviction or sentence.”  Wolford, 62 M.J. at 420 (internal quotations omitted).  

Law 
 

Sentencing Errors 
 

The sentencing authority must consider, among other things, “the nature and 

circumstances of the offense.”  10 U.S.C. § 856(c)(1)(A); R.C.M. 1002(f)(1).  If an 

error arises in sentencing, then “[a] finding or sentence of a court-martial may not 

be held incorrect on the ground of an error of law unless the error materially 

prejudices the substantial rights of the accused.”  10 U.S.C. § 859; United States v. 

Edwards, 82 M.J. 239, 247 (C.A.A.F. 2022). 
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Exceeding Scope of Guilty Plea Inquiry 

Rule for Courts-Martial 910(e) requires:   

The military judge shall not accept a plea of guilty without 
making such inquiry of the accused as shall satisfy the 
military judge that there is a factual basis for the plea.  The 
accused shall be questioned under oath about the offenses. 
 

“Unless the military judge has ranged far afield during the providence 

inquiry, the accused’s sworn testimony will provide evidence directly relating to 

the offenses to which he has pleaded guilty.”  United States v. Holt, 27 M.J. 57, 60 

(C.M.A. 1988) (internal quotations omitted).  Information elicited by a military 

judge during the Care inquiry is admissible for sentencing so long as it is “closely 

related to” and “not far afield of” the offenses to which Appellant pleaded guilty.  

United States v. Price, 76 M.J. 136, 139 (C.A.A.F. 2017). 

Maximum Confinement 

The maximum confinement available for simple assault when committed 

with an unloaded firearm is three years.  Manual for Courts-Martial, United States 

pt. IV, ¶ 77.d.(1)(b) (2019 ed.).  The maximum confinement for assault 

consummated by a battery is 6 months.  MCM, pt. IV, ¶ 77.d.(2)(a).  The 

maximum confinement available for aggravated assault with a dangerous weapon 

committed with a loaded firearm is eight years.  MCM, pt. IV, ¶ 77.d.(3)(a). 

  



 

 14 

Analysis 

A. The military judge made three legal errors during Appellant’s Care inquiry. 
 

The Government acknowledges that the military judge made three legal 

errors during Appellant’s Care inquiry, but the errors were not prejudicial to 

Appellant.  First, the military judge characterized the simple assault with an 

unloaded firearm as an assault consummated by a battery.  (JA at 71). 

Second, the military judge provided additional elements and definitions that 

were not part of the charged offense to Appellant during the Care inquiry.  (JA at 

71).  Specifically, he added two elements of aggravated assault with a dangerous 

weapon:  “intent to do bodily harm” and the “weapon was a dangerous weapon.”  

(JA at 71); MCM, pt. IV, ¶ 77.b.(4)(a)(ii-iii). 

Third, and finally, the military judge asked Appellant to draw two flawed 

legal conclusions about the nature of the unloaded firearm and bodily harm.  When 

discussing the unloaded firearm, the military judge said:  “. . . I wanted to ask you 

was, the unloaded firearm . . . I wanted to ask you if you consider that a dangerous 

weapon under the definitions I have given you?”  (JA at 75) (emphasis added).  
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Legally, an unloaded firearm is not a dangerous weapon.2  Then when discussing 

bodily harm, the military judge said, “Would you agree that pointing the gun at her 

and stating what you stated was bodily harm under the definitions I gave you?”  

(JA at 75).  But pointing the unloaded firearm at A1C RL’s head was only an offer 

to do bodily harm, and it did not actually constitute an offensive touching.  Having 

acknowledged error, only the prejudice analysis remains.   

B. Although the military judge erred, the errors were nonconstitutional because
Appellant’s constitutional right against self-incrimination and his right to
proper notice were not violated.

Appellant argues that “[t]he military judge’s misapprehension of the offense 

charged in Specification 2 of Charge II is an error of constitutional magnitude.”  

(App. Br. at 21).  Appellant raises the constitutional question for the first time on 

appeal before this Court, and he did not raise it before AFCCA.  Appellant claims 

violations of his right to silence and a right to notice escalated the errors to a 

constitutional violation.  (App. Br. at 15).  But the military judge did not violate 

2  In United States v. Davis, this Court held “that an unloaded pistol is not a 
dangerous weapon under the President's interpretation of Article 128” under the 
1995 Manual.  47 M.J. 484, 486 (C.A.A.F. 1998).  The definition of “other means 
or force” in the 1995 Manual stated, “an unloaded pistol, when presented as a 
firearm and not as a bludgeon, is not a dangerous weapon or a means of force 
likely to produce grievous bodily harm, whether or not the assailant knew it was 
unloaded.”  MCM, pt. IV, ¶ 54c(4)(a)(ii) (1995 ed.).  But the 2019 edition of the 
Manual does not include the same language in its definitions.  But the service 
courts have used the 2019 Manual’s definition of “dangerous weapon” to conclude 
an unloaded firearm is not a dangerous weapon.  United States v. Bousman, 2023 
CCA LEXIS 66, *29 (A.F. Ct. Crim. App. 8 February 2023) (unpub. op.). 
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Appellant’s constitutional rights because (1) the military judge did not compel 

Appellant “to be a witness against himself,” U.S. Const. amend. V, and (2) 

Appellant had proper notice of the offense he pleaded guilty to and was sentenced 

for. 

1. The military judge did not violate Appellant’s constitutional right against 
self-incrimination by asking general questions about erroneous additional 
elements. 

 
A military judge might violate an accused’s right against self-incrimination 

during a Care inquiry if he asked questions that were not “closely related to” and 

are “far afield of” the offenses to which an accused pleaded guilty.  United States 

v. Price, 76 M.J. 136, 139 (C.A.A.F. 2017).    

Appellant argues the military judge misapprehended the offense when he 

provided Appellant with the dangerous weapon definition.  (App. Br. at 20).  The 

military judge provided Appellant with the definition of a dangerous weapon: 

A weapon is a dangerous weapon when used in a manner 
capable of inflicting death or grievous bodily harm.  What 
constitutes a dangerous weapon depends not on the nature 
of the object itself, but on its capability, given the manner 
of its use to inflict grievous bodily harm. 
 

(JA at 72).  Then during the Care inquiry, the military judge asked, “. . . the 

unloaded firearm, it was a 9mm Smith and Wesson . . . I wanted to ask you if you 

consider that a dangerous weapon under the definitions I have given you?”  

Appellant responded, “Yes, Your Honor.”  (JA at 75).  But the military judge did 
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not ask Appellant if his firearm was actually used as a dangerous weapon, he 

simply asked if Appellant considered it to be one.  The military judge asked 

Appellant to draw a legally incorrect conclusion that the weapon used in the 

offense was “dangerous,” but Appellant did not admit any fact that was not 

encompassed by the offense as charged.  Appellant went on to explain multiple 

times that the firearm was unloaded, and the firing pin was removed, which was 

consistent with the term “unloaded firearm” used in the specification.  (JA at 74).  

Appellant repeatedly contradicted the idea that the firearm was a dangerous 

weapon when he told the military judge the firearm was unloaded during his Care 

inquiry.  (JA at 74). 

Appellant also argues that the military judge “accepted Appellant’s plea, 

while under the misapprehension that the offense required this specific intent to 

harm.”  (App. Br. at 21).  But the military judge did not ask Appellant during the 

providence inquiry whether he intended to cause bodily harm: 

[Military Judge]:  Would you agree that pointing the gun 
at her and stating what you stated was bodily harm under 
the definition I gave you? 
 
[Appellant]: Yes, Your Honor. 
 
[Military Judge]: And my other question is, did you 
intend to point the gun at her? 
 
[Appellant]: Yes, Your Honor. 
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(JA at 75).  The military judge only elicited that Appellant intended to point 

the gun at A1C RL.  (Id.).  And Appellant only admitted that he offered to do 

bodily harm to A1C RL by pointing the firearm at her – the offer element of simple 

assault.  See MCM, pt. IV, ¶ 77.b.(1)(a) (“That the accused attempted to do or 

offered to do bodily harm to a certain person”) (emphasis added).  But the military 

judge never forced Appellant to admit that he actually intended bodily harm on 

A1C RL.  Although the military judge asked Appellant to draw a legally incorrect 

conclusion that pointing the gun at A1C RL was “bodily harm,” rather than an 

offer to do bodily harm, the military judge did not require Appellant to admit to 

any fact that Appellant would not have admitted otherwise.  The fact that 

Appellant pointed the gun to A1C RL’s head was encompassed within the 

specification at issue, and the military judge asking about it did not violate 

Appellant’s right against self-incrimination. 

Appellant’s constitutional rights against self-incrimination not violated, thus, 

the error does not reach a constitutional magnitude.  Appellant was not forced to 

forego his constitutional rights during the Care inquiry. 

2. The military judge did not violate Appellant’s constitutional right to notice 
by asking general questions about erroneous additional elements. 

 
Appellant argues that the military judge laid out an aggravating offense 

during Appellant’s Care inquiry that was not charged, and Appellant did not have 

notice that the military judge would be sentencing him for it.  (App. Br. at 25). 
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The due process principle of fair notice mandates that an accused has a right 

to know what offense and under what legal theory he will be tried and convicted.”  

United States v. Riggins, 75 M.J. 78, 83 (C.A.A.F. 2016) (internal citation and 

quotations omitted).  “The charge sheet provides the accused notice that he or she 

will have to defend against any charged offense and specification.”  United States 

v. Armstrong, 77 M.J. 465, 469 (C.A.A.F. 2018).   

Appellant alleges he was not on notice of an aggravated assault with a 

dangerous weapon.  (App. Br. at 14-15).  The Government agrees that Appellant 

was not on notice of the aggravated assault with a dangerous weapon, but AFCCA 

did not affirm a conviction for that offense, and Appellant was not sentenced for 

the greater offense.   

The military judge erroneously added elements to the simple assault with an 

unloaded firearm offense, but he did not violate Appellant’s constitutional right to 

proper notice by doing so.  Appellant knew “what offense and under what legal 

theory he will be tried and convicted,” simple assault with an unloaded firearm.  

Riggins, 75 M.J. at 83.  Appellant had a copy of the charge sheet, the stipulation of 

fact, and the plea agreement.  Appellant's admissions during the providence inquiry 

established that he was fully aware of the Government’s charging theory based on 

the individual elements of the charge against him.  He explained in his own words 
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that he was guilty of simple assault with an unloaded firearm, and his trial defense 

counsel was present during the court-martial. 

Appellant alleges that the addition of the elements meant the military judge 

viewed the offense through the lens of the aggravating factors.  (App. Br. 15, 31).  

But looking at the entire proceeding, time and time again the military judge 

reiterated that the firearm was unloaded.  Each of the elements for the offense 

charged was provided to the Appellant, the military judge added additional 

definitions, but then proceeded to discuss the simple assault with an unloaded 

firearm and not aggravated assault with a loaded firearm.  Appellant was on notice 

of the offense for which he was convicted and sentenced.  The specification was 

not deficient.  Appellant’s description in his own words described simple assault 

with an unloaded firearm and the military judge understood the offense for which 

he was sentencing Appellant. 

C. Even if the United States must meet the higher constitutional burden, the 
military judge’s errors did not contribute to Appellant’s sentence. 
 

Assuming this Court finds constitutional error and that the burden remains 

on the Government to prove harmlessness, the Government can still prove beyond 

a reasonable doubt that the military judge’s errors did not contribute to Appellants 

sentence.  The Government meets its burden in this case for six reasons.  First, the 

military judge knew that the firearm was unloaded.  Second, the military judge 

never elicited that Appellant actually injured or harmed A1C RL, nor that he 
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intended to so, and the military judge could not have realistically thought, based on 

the facts elicited, that Appellant could have actually harmed the victim.  Third, trial 

counsel did not argue any of the wrong elements as aggravating factors.  Fourth, 

the military judge was aware of the overall max punishment based on the guilty 

plea.  Fifth, the military judge had evidence before him supporting a sentence of 

six months confinement.  And sixth, the military judge used the proper offense 

code for simple assault with an unloaded firearm on the statement of trial results 

and entry of judgment. 

1. The military judge understood that Specification 2 of Charge II was 
committed with an unloaded firearm because he referred to the firearm as 
unloaded, and the parties stated the firearm was unloaded or inoperable 
multiple times. 

 
The facts elicited by the military judge did not support a finding of 

aggravated assault. 
 

The military judge did not elicit facts establishing that Specification 2 of 

Charge II was an aggravated assault.  Thus, the facts upon which Appellant was 

sentenced were consistent with the charged offense of simple assault with an 

unloaded firearm and not another offense. 

Appellant pleaded guilty to an aggravated assault offense for strangling A1C 

RL (Specification 1, Charge II).  During the Care inquiry on that offense, the 

military judge asked follow-up questions about Appellant committing bodily harm 

on A1C RL.  (JA at 71).  He asked if Appellant had “permission or authority to do 
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the bodily harm to her;” was he forced “to do bodily harm to her;” and could 

Appellant have “avoided doing that bodily harm to her.”  (Id.).  The military judge 

did not ask these same follow-up questions during the Care on the simple assault.  

Thus, the military judge showed he understood the difference between simple 

assault and aggravated assault.  And the military judge did not elicit these same 

facts – which would have been required for aggravated assault – for Specification 2 

of Charge II. 

The stipulation of fact stated four times that the firearm was unloaded or 
inoperable, and the military judge read the stipulation aloud to Appellant. 

 
The military judge conducted a colloquy with Appellant about the 

stipulation of fact.  And the military judge read every paragraph of the stipulation 

of fact aloud changing the language from first person to second person throughout.  

(JA at 50).  The military judge read paragraphs 25, 29, and 30 aloud, and these 

paragraphs stated the firearm was unloaded or that Appellant had removed the 

firing pin making it inoperable.  (JA at 62, 63, 64).  This proves the military judge 

read the uncontroverted facts of the case at least once.  The stipulation of fact was 

entered as a prosecution exhibit, and it was evidence of “the nature and 

circumstances of the offense.”  10 U.S.C. § 856(c)(1)(A); R.C.M. 1002(f)(1).  The 

military judge could consider the stipulation of fact during his sentencing 

deliberations.  Four times in the stipulation of fact it stated the firearm was 

“unloaded” or the “firing pin was removed.”  (JA at 119).  The plain language of 
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the stipulation of fact reminded the military judge the offense was simple assault 

with an unloaded firearm and not aggravated assault with a loaded firearm.  

Appellant points to the fact that the military judge “skipped reading the 

general nature of the charges” as evidence that the military judge did not 

understand the offense.  (App. Br. at 17).  But the headers in the stipulation of fact 

stated the general nature of each offense.  (JA at 116, 119, 120).  Specifically, the 

header immediately preceding the details of the simple assault with an unloaded 

firearm read “Assault with an Unloaded Firearm (Article 128, UCMJ).”  (JA at 

119) (emphasis added).  

During the Care inquiry, both the military judge and Appellant said the firearm 
was unloaded or inoperable multiple times. 

 
The military judge and Appellant referred to the firearm as “unloaded” 

throughout the Care inquiry.  The military judge instructed Appellant that he would 

use the Care inquiry for the purposes of findings and sentencing.  (JA at 49).  The 

military judge said the weapon was an “unloaded firearm” when reading the 

elements of Specification 2 of Charge II.  (JA at 72).  In Appellant’s description of 

the offense, he said the gun was unloaded or inoperable three times:  “While the 

firearm was unloaded and had the firing pin removed, which means it could not 

have been fired.”  (JA at 74) (emphasis added).  Then the military judge referred to 

“the unloaded firearm” in his follow up questions with Appellant.  (JA at 75).  The 

military judge stated or was reminded 14 times that the firearm was unloaded – 
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nine times during the stipulation of fact inquiry and Care inquiry, and five times 

during the Government’s sentencing argument.  (JA at 72, 74, 75).  Although the 

military judge erroneously mentioned dangerous weapons in his initial advice to 

Appellant, he was regularly reminded throughout the proceeding that the firearm 

was unloaded.  As a whole, these circumstances support that Appellant was 

properly sentenced for an offense involving an unloaded firearm, and not based on 

more aggravating facts. 

2. The military judge never elicited that Appellant actually injured or harmed 
A1C RL, nor that he intended to commit bodily harm.   

 
The military judge never elicited facts that Appellant committed bodily harm 

upon A1C RL for Specification 2 of Charge II.  (JA at 75).  Appellant only 

admitted that he pointed an unloaded firearm at A1C RL’s head and yelled at her – 

the offer element of simple assault.  (JA at 74); See MCM, pt. IV, ¶ 77.b.(1)(a) 

(“That the accused attempted to do or offered to do bodily harm to a certain 

person”) (emphasis added).  But the military judge never forced Appellant to admit 

that he actually committed bodily harm on A1C RL or that he intended to do so.   

Looking at the record, the military judge would not have been able to make a 

finding that bodily harm occurred with the evidence elicited in the stipulation of 

fact and the Care inquiry.  Based on the facts elicited, the military judge could not 

possibly have believed that Appellant could have harmed A1C RL with the 

unloaded firearm in that situation.  Therefore, when sentencing Appellant, the 
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military judge did so based on the facts that Appellant could not and did not 

actually harm or injure A1C RL and had no intent to do so, since the firearm was 

unloaded.  This supports that Appellant’s sentence was appropriate for someone 

who had committed a simple assault with an unloaded firearm, rather than a more 

severe offense. 

3. Trial counsel did not argue any of the incorrect elements as aggravating 
factors. 
 
Trial counsel’s sentencing argument focused on the aggravating factors laid 

out in the stipulation of fact and provided during the Care inquiry.  She did not 

discuss the additional, erroneous elements that the military judge provided during 

the Care inquiry.  Trial counsel reiterated five times that the firearm was unloaded 

or inoperable, and she did not discuss bodily harm or committing bodily harm on 

A1C RL.  (R. at 152-106).  Trial counsel did not emphasize these points, and in 

doing so, she ensured the Government’s recommended sentence was based only on 

the offenses to which Appellant pleaded guilty. 

4. The military judge was aware of the overall max punishment based on the 
guilty plea. 

 
When establishing the maximum punishment based on the offenses to which 

Appellant pleaded guilty, the military judge agreed with counsel that the maximum 

period of confinement was six years and six months.  The maximum period of 

confinement available under the law for Specifications 1 and 7 of Charge II was a 
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total of three and a half years of confinement.  See MCM, pt. IV, ¶ 77.d.(2)(a) 

(assault consummated by a battery); MCM, pt. IV, ¶ 77.d.(3)(b)(iii) (aggravated 

assault in which substantial bodily harm is inflicted by strangulation).  The 

maximum period of confinement for simple assault with an unloaded firearm is 

three years.  See MCM, pt. IV, ¶ 77.d.(1)(b).  These three offenses together have a 

maximum confinement period of six and a half years. 

In contrast, the maximum period of confinement for aggravated assault with 

a dangerous weapon, specifically a loaded firearm, is eight years.  See MCM, pt. 

IV, ¶ 77.d.(3)(a)(i).  If the military judge had been viewing the offense as 

aggravated assault with a loaded firearm the maximum confinement period for all 

three offenses would have been 11.5 years – eight of which would have been 

attributable to aggravated assault.  MCM, pt. IV, ¶ 77.d.(3)(a)(i).  The maximum 

sentence discussed by the parties reflected simple assault with an unloaded firearm, 

again showing the military judge understood the gravity of the offense for which 

he was sentencing Appellant. 

5. The military judge had evidence before him supporting a sentence of six 
months confinement. 

 
The military judge had evidence before him supporting a sentence of six 

months of confinement.  The Government’s sentencing case revolved around the 

stipulation of fact which laid out Appellant’s transgressions in detail, and it 

included uncontroverted stipulations of testimony from A1C RL.  (JA at 115-120).  
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Then in his Care inquiry Appellant reiterated that he knew he terrified A1C RL 

when he pointed the firearm at her, and she did not know that it was unloaded.  (JA 

at 74).  Appellant’s own words – under oath – were the strongest evidence that 

could then be used by the sentencing authority to determine his punishment.   

The defense’s case was a standard sentencing package consisting of an 

unsworn statement, a photo collage, and two, character letters.  (JA at 151-157).  

Appellant’s vague discussion of a traumatic brain injury was largely unpersuasive 

because no evidence was presented that such an injury caused his actions or 

influenced his decisions afterwards.  (JA at 96-97). 

Appellant claims the military judge viewed the entire proceeding through an 

“incorrect prism” of aggravating factors.  (App. Br at 31).  He did not.  Nine times 

during the stipulation of fact inquiry and Care inquiry the Appellant or military 

judge stated the firearm was unloaded or inoperable.  (JA at 72, 74, 75).  In 

addition, the military judge never elicited that Appellant committed bodily harm on 

A1C RL, injured her, or intended to do either.  Then during trial counsel’s 

sentencing argument, trial counsel reiterated that the firearm was unloaded or 

inoperable another five times, and she did not argue the erroneous aggravating 

elements.  (JA at 102).  The military judge also understood that he was not 

sentencing Appellant based on an offense with an 8-year maximum.  The record 

supports that the military judge viewed the offense through the appropriate prism. 
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Appellant claims that had the military judge correctly understood that the 

offense charged was a simple assault . . . there is a real possibility that he may have 

sentenced Appellant to a lesser sentence.”  (App. Br. at 29).  This is unpersuasive.  

Appellant’s argument ignores the fact that A1C RL genuinely believed she was 

going to die in that moment, and Appellant ignores his own cavalier response when 

confronted about the incident.  He laughed.  (JA at 119).  These are aggravating 

factors that the military judge considered.  These factors created the correct prism 

of aggravating factors through which the military judge could view the offenses.  

(JA at 119).  These aggravating factors unmistakably led to Appellant receiving six 

months confinement – the maximum under the plea agreement and two and a half 

years below the maximum available under the law.  (JA at 111); MCM, pt. IV, ¶ 

77.d.(1). 

Appellant goes on to argue, that “the military judge sentenced Appellant to 

the minimum of 2 months confinement for Specification 7 [aggravated assault by 

strangulation], despite the aggravating circumstances of that offense, suggesting he 

was receptive to Appellant’s mitigation case when he sentenced Appellant for an 

offense that he did not misapprehend.”  (App. Br. at 33).  But nothing in 

Appellant’s sentencing case overcame the cruelty Appellant showed by putting 

A1C RL – his romantic partner – in fear of her life and the remorselessness he 

showed afterwards.   
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The Government acknowledges that showing an error did not have an 

influence on the sentence is more difficult than in findings.  Edwards, 82 M.J. at 

247.  And the difficulties arise because “there is a broad spectrum of lawful 

punishments that a panel might adjudge.”  Edwards, 82 M.J. at 247.  But in this 

case, the spectrum of punishments was significantly limited through the plea 

agreement before Appellant arrived at trial, and the military judge adjudged a 

sentence within that limited spectrum – making the prejudice analysis easier to 

apply in this case.  Appellant’s sentence fell within the lawful range available for a 

simple assault with an unloaded firearm, and what’s more, it fell within the even 

smaller range available pursuant to the plea agreement.   

Appellant committed egregiously cruel conduct, which traumatized A1C RL 

by making her believe she was going to die.  A1C RL said in her unsworn 

statement, “I am still haunted by the night Cole held a gun to my head.”  (JA at 

149).  She continued, “I was afraid of his anger and aggression, but I was frozen in 

place and could not muster the courage to try and escape the situation.”  (JA at 

150).  Under such circumstances, it is not difficult to ascertain that the military 

judge would have still sentenced Appellant to the full six months of confinement, 

despite the errors in the Care inquiry.  This Court can be convinced beyond a 

reasonable doubt that the military judge’s errors did not contribute to the sentence. 
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Since the United States can meet the higher constitutional-error burden of 

showing harmlessness, it follows that if the error was not constitutional, then 

Appellant cannot meet his burden of showing prejudice under a plain error 

standard.  For the same reasons described above, Appellant has not shown a 

reasonable probability that, but for the errors, his sentence would have been 

different. 

In sum, the military judge’s errors did not contribute to the sentence.  The 

facts elicited over and over again on the record demonstrated that the military 

judge knew he was sentencing Appellant for pointing an unloaded firearm at 

A1C RL’s head and making her believe she would die that night.  The military 

judge sentenced Appellant based on the actual aggravating factors of Appellant’s 

conduct – not those erroneous elements associated with a different offense.  

Appellant was not prejudiced by the military judge’s errors. 

6. The military judge entered the correct offense code on the Entry of 
Judgment indicating he understood the offense was simple assault with an 
unloaded firearm. 

 
The Department of Defense using the Defense Incident-Based Reporting 

System (DIBRS) codes all the UCMJ offenses for their entry into the National 

Incident-Based Reporting System (NIBRS).  (JA at 169).  The code for simple 

assault with an unloaded firearm is “128-A1,” and the code for aggravated assault 

with a dangerous weapon specifically a loaded firearm is “128-J2.”  (JA at 169).  
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The military judge properly coded the simple assault with an unloaded firearm 

code as “128-A1” on the statement of trial results and the entry of judgment.  

(Statement of Trial Results, dated 15 June 2021, ROT, Vol. 1 at 1; JA at 35).  The 

military judge entered “128-A1” under Specification 2 of Charge II, and the 

military judge signed both documents.  (Id.). 

Although a DIBRS code is neither a finding nor part of a sentence, it is 

circumstantial evidence that the military judge sentenced Appellant to simple 

assault with an unloaded firearm.  See United States v. Lepore, 81 M.J. 759, 762-

63 (A.F. Ct. Crim. App. 2021) (en banc).  In reviewing the statement of trial results 

immediately following sentencing or the entry of judgment later, the military judge 

would have likely questioned the code had he actually believed the offense was 

aggravated assault with a dangerous weapon. 

D. Assuming this was constitutional error, this Court should overrule 
Tovarchavez; follow Greer v. United States, and require Appellant to show a 
reasonable probability that, but for the errors, the outcome of the proceeding 
would have been different. 

 
If this Court finds the errors were constitutional, under Tovarchavez, the 

Government must show that the constitutional error was “harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt.”  78 M.J. at 460.  But this Court has called into question the 

continuing viability of Tovarchavez.  See United States v. Long, 81 M.J. 362, 371 

(C.A.A.F. 2021).  In Long, this Court recognized that after Tovarchavez was 

decided, the Supreme Court held that, in a plain error review of nonstructural 
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constitutional error, the appellant – not the Government – has the burden of 

providing prejudice.  Id.  (citing Greer v. United States, 141 S. Ct. 2090, 2100 

(2021). 

According to the Supreme Court, to prove prejudice, the appellant must 

show “a reasonable probability that, but for the error, the outcome of the 

proceeding would have been different.”  Greer, 141 S. Ct. at 2095.  And in 

conducting its plain error review, the appellate court can review the entire record.  

Id. at 2104.  In Long, this Court declined to decide the applicability of Greer to the 

military.  81 M.J. at 371.  If this Court decides constitutional error occurred here, 

the issue will become ripe, and this Court should overturn Tovarchavez, follow 

Greer, and require Appellant to prove prejudice. 

CONCLUSION 

Appellant is not entitled to relief because the military judge did not 

misapprehend the nature of Appellant’s conduct in support of Specification 2 of 

Charge II.  In the end, the military judge sentenced Appellant based on the facts 

elicited during the Care inquiry, which were consistent with simple assault with an 

unloaded firearm, and not a more serious offense.  Appellant suffered no prejudice 

because the military judge’s errors did not contribute to his sentence.  And he was 

sentenced within the lawful bounds of the President’s maximum sentences and his 

own plea agreement with the convening authority.  
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For these reasons, the United States respectfully requests that this Honorable 

Court deny Appellant’s claims and affirm the findings and sentence in this case.  
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